IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

CHRISTOPHER THOMAS and CHRISTOPHER CRAIG, , Individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,

Petitioners,

vs.

NEVADA YELLOW CAB CORPORATION, NEVADA CHECKER CAB CORPORATION, NEVADA STAR CAB CORPORATION,

Respondents,

Electronically Filed Nov 27 2012 08:20 a.m. Sup. Ct. No. 616 facie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court Dist. Ct No.:A-12-661726-C Dept. No. XXVIII

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

Leon Greenberg, NSB 8094 A Professional Corporation 2965 S. Jones Boulevard - Suite E-4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 Telephone (702) 383-6085 Fax: 702-385-1827

Attorney for Appellants

1

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants are employed by Yellow Checker Star as taxi cab drivers in
Clark County, Nevada. They claim Yellow Checker Star has, at certain times,
failed to pay them the minimum hourly compensation required by Article 15,
Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution. AA 09-13. Yellow Check Star has not
disputed that it failed to pay the Taxi Drivers the minimum hourly compensation
specified by the Nevada Constitution.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Article 15, Section 16 of the Nevada Constitution (the "Nevada 10 Constitutional Minimum Wage"), independently, and without reference to any 11 Nevada statute, mandates the payment of a specified minimum amount of hourly 12 compensation to all Nevada employees except those specifically identified in 13 that same section. Such mandate requires no "implicit repeal" of NRS 14 608.250(2)(e) which, by its own express language, only exempts taxi drivers 15 from the minimum wage provisions of NRS 608.250(1). Appellants assert no 16 claim under NRS 608.250(1) and their exclusion from the minimum wage 17 requirements imposed by that statute is irrelevant. Their claim is grounded 18 directly, and solely, upon the rights independently conferred to them by 19 Nevada's Constitution, which have not, and cannot, be abrogated by NRS 20 608.250(2)(e) or any other Nevada statute. 21

Even if an "implicit repeal" of NRS 608.250(2)(e) was required for
Appellants to be entitled to Nevada's Constitutional Minimum Wage, such an
implicit repeal has occurred. This is because Nevada's Constitution, by
conferring upon Nevada employees a broad and unqualified right to a minimum
wage, has effected a revision of the entire subject of minimum wages in Nevada.

¹ Referenced page numbers of Appellant's Appendix are referred to as "AA."

See, State ex rel. Nevada Orphan Asylum v. Hallock, 16 Nev. 373, 378 (1882) 1 (constitutional amendment that addresses subject displaces prior statute) and 2 Western Realty Co. v. Reno, 172 P.2d 158, 165 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1946) (later 3 enactment that "revises the whole subject-matter" at issue will repeal a prior 4 statute). See, also, Board of Retirement v. Superior Court, 101 Cal. App. 4th 5 1062, 1068 (Cal. Ct. App. 2002) (holding a statute is implicitly repealed by a 6 7 constitutional amendment when the latter "constitute[s] a revision of the entire subject."). 8 **APPLICABLE STANDARD OF REVIEW** 9 This Court reviews a decision by the district court to dismiss under Nev. 10 R. Civ. P. 12(b)(5) under a "rigorous appellate review" standard. See, Sanchez 11 v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 221 P.3d 1276, 1280 (Nev. 2009). The plaintiff's 12 factual allegations must be accepted as true and dismissal is improper if those 13 allegations sufficiently allege the elements of the claims asserted. *Id.* In 14 reviewing the district court's dismissal order, every reasonable inference is 15 drawn in the plaintiff's favor. Id. 16 ARGUMENT 17 I. **NEVADA'S CONSTITUTION SETS FORTH AN INDEPENDENT** 18 LEGAL REQUIREMENT FOR THE PAYMENT OF MINIMUM WAGES TO WHICH NRS 608.250(2)(E) IS INAPPLICABLE 19 Appellants' Claim for Minimum Wages was Brought Directly Under Nevada's Constitution, Not NRS 608.250, and Such Statute Was Not Implicated Under the Facts Pleaded in the A. 20 21 Complaint 22 The district court conducted no independent analysis and instead adopted 23 the holding of an unreported federal district court decision, Lucas v. Bell 24 Transportation, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 72549, (D. Nev. June 23, 2009). Lucas 25 never discusses the express language of Nevada's Constitutional Minimum 26 Wage stating that it is imposing upon each employer an obligation "to pay a 27 wage to each employee of not less than the hourly rates set forth in this 28

1 section." (Emphasis provided). Lucas simply assumed, without discussion of such language or any analysis of whether the Nevada Constitution imposes its 2 own freestanding minimum wage requirement, that "[t]he focus of the 3 Amendment was the actual minimum wage." Id. p. 23. It then went on to 4 conduct only an "implied repeal" analysis and erroneously concludes no such 5 repeal was established because "...this Court cannot conclude that there is no 6 other reasonable construction of the Amendment than that it repealed NRS 7 608.250." Id. 8

Lucas ignores the express and unambiguous language of both the Nevada 9 Constitution and NRS 608.250(2). The Nevada Constitution makes no 10 reference to NRS 608.250 and expressly imposes its own self contained and 11 specified minimum wage obligation. The exemptions set forth in NRS 12 608.250(2) are expressly limited to the minimum wage obligations imposed by 13 NRS 608.250(1).² Lucas transformed Nevada's Constitutional Minimum Wage 14 into a mere modification of NRS 608.250(1), which in turn was subject to the 15 limitations imposed by NRS 608.250(2). In doing so *Lucas* acted in derogation 16 of a fundamental principle of law: that a constitutional provision supercedes, 17 and cannot be modified by, any legislative enactment, except when the 18 constitutional provision itself confers that power upon the legislature. No such 19 power is granted to the Nevada Legislature by the Nevada Constitutional 20 provision at issue in this case. 21

Lucas also engaged solely in an "implied repeal" analysis, and an
erroneous one at that, without considering how NRS 608.250 and the Nevada
Constitution are not in conflict and act in tandem within their defined spheres of
authority, as discussed, *infra. Lucas* assumes either NRS 608.250 was repealed

 ² The relevant limiting language of NRS 608.250(2) states: "The provisions of subsection 1 [NRS 608.250(1)] do not apply to..."

1 or if it was not repealed it controls the otherwise clear and unambiguous language of the Nevada Constitution. Contrary to the conclusion of Lucas, a 2 failure by the Nevada Constitution to expressly or implicitly repeal NRS 3 608.250(2) is irrelevant. The Nevada Constitution requires all employers pay 4 the minimum wage specified by that "section" of the Nevada Constitution to all 5 employees as specified therein. It also grants employees a broad right to seek 6 relief for its violations. It is entirely self-executing and refers to no Nevada 7 statutes. The most "reasonable construction" of the Nevada Constitution, one 8 not even considered by *Lucas*, is that it imposes its own independent minimum 9 wage obligations pursuant to its express and unambiguous language, 10 irrespective of whether it effectuated a repeal of NRS 608.250(2) and is, in any 11 event, not subject to such statute. 12

Appellants' complaint makes no claim for minimum wages under NRS 13 608.250 and their exemption from that statute's minimum wage requirements is 14 wholly irrelevant. The only claim for relief made in this case is pursuant to 15 Nevada's Constitution, which sets forth its own specified minimum wage rates. 16 That same provision of Nevada's Constitution, at subsection B thereof, confers 17 upon an employee a right to "bring an action against his or her employer in the 18 courts of this State" for "all remedies available under the law or in equity" that 19 are "appropriate to remedy any violation" of such constitutional provision. The 20 Taxi Drivers' claim for relief, both substantively and procedurally, is 21 completely derived from, and controlled by, the terms of Nevada's Constitution. 22 It has no relationship whatsoever to NRS 608.250. 23

24

Rather than recognize the issue is not what Nevada's *statutes* impose as a minimum wage obligation, but what its *constitution* requires, the district court, 25 and Lucas, examined the wrong issue, and found the Nevada Constitution 26 imposes no separate, independent, minimum wage obligation. Such an 27 assumption was clearly erroneous and contrary to the language of the Nevada 28

Constitution.

2

7

8

15

16

17

1

The Nevada Constitution Creates Minimum Wage Requirements That are Independent of, and Unconcerned With, the Requirements Of NRS 608.250(1) and its B. Exemptions

4 The district court's decision was also erroneous because it adopted the 5 view that the *only* thing the Nevada Constitution commanded in respect to the 6 minimum wage was an increase in its amount. The district court found, relying upon Lucas, that "[t]he focus of the Minimum Wage Amendment was the actual minimum wage." AA 05. The district court provided no support for this 9 finding, which is clearly contrary to the express language of the Nevada 10 Constitution, which does not refer anywhere to raising the amount of the 11 minimum wage *otherwise required* under Nevada law. Instead it expressly 12 imposes its own independent minimum wage requirements in its very first 13 sentence: 14

Nevada Constitution, Article 15, Section 16

Payment of minimum compensation to employees.

A. Each employer shall pay a wage to each employee of not less than the hourly rates *set forth in this section*. (Emphasis provided)

The Nevada Constitution does not reference the pre-existing minimum 18 wage set forth in NRS 608.250(1), much less discuss how it is merely "raising" 19 such minimum wage as *Lucas* and the district court found. It refers solely to the 20 requirements *of this section* meaning the minimum wage expressly set forth in 21 Nevada's Constitution, such minimum wage being specified at \$5.15 or \$6.15 22 an hour and subject to a number of requirements and future increases as set forth 23 in that same constitutional section. 24

The Nevada Legislature had the power to address minimum wage issues, 25 both before and after the Nevada Constitution's amendment imposed certain 26 minimum wage requirements. The legislature exercised that power and enacted 27 certain minimum wage standards (NRS 608.250(1)) and exceptions thereto 28

(NRS 608.250(2)) prior to the Nevada Constitutional Minimum Wage's creation. The Nevada Legislature's decision to do so is irrelevant to this case. There is no support in the law, or otherwise, that the Nevada Legislature can now, by the enactment of a mere statute, override any of the provisions of 4 Nevada's Constitution. Nor can statutes it has passed prior to the Nevada Constitution's minimum wage amendment, such as NRS 608.250(2), create exceptions to the minimum wage otherwise required by such constitutional amendment.

The district court's findings would be correct if Nevada's Constitution 9 read "Each employer shall pay a wage to each employee [to whom the minimum 10 wage statutes of Nevada are applicable] of not less than the hourly rates set 11 forth in this section." The foregoing bracketed language, if it were actually 12 present in the Nevada Constitution, would have, as the district court found, 13 merely raised the minimum wage for those employees already subject to NRS 14 608.250(1). Such words, being absent, mandates an application of Nevada's 15 Constitution by its express language, which requires payment of "a wage to 16 each employee of not less than the hourly rates set forth in this section." The 17 only exceptions to the required payment set forth in "this section" of Nevada's 18 Constitution are in subparts B and C thereof. Those exceptions are for certain 19 employees subject to union negotiated collective bargaining agreements, or who 20 are under 18 years of age and are trainees or employed by a non-profit, 21 circumstances not relevant to this case. 22

23

1

2

3

5

6

7

8

Then Nevada Attorney General, later United States District Court Judge, and current Nevada Governor, Brian Sandavol, also concluded the minimum 24 wages required by Nevada's Constitution are not limited by NRS 608.250(2). 25 See, Nevada Attorney General Opinion 2005-04. AA14-24. The analysis 26 utilized in that opinion looked to the precise language of the Nevada 27 Constitution, specifically its imposition of a minimum wage as specified in that 28

"section" of the Nevada Constitution and its failure to make any mention of
 NRS 608.250.

The conclusion reached by the Attorney General in Opinion 2005-04 is 3 well supported by precedent. There is no ambiguity in the Nevada 4 5 Constitution's directive that "each employer shall pay to each employee a wage of not less than the hourly rates set forth in this section" of the Constitution. 6 7 Absent ambiguity, the Nevada Constitution's language must be applied pursuant to its plain meaning. See, Nevadans for Nevada v. Beers, 142 P.3d 339, 347 8 (Sup. Ct. Nev. 2006). The command that every employer "shall pay" to "each 9 employee" at least the wage specified by such section must be given mandatory 10 application by this Court to every employee except those the Nevada 11 Constitution, itself, excludes. See, State ex rel. State Bd. of Equalization v. 12 Baks, 148 P.3d 717, 724 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 2006) ("By using the mandatory term 13 'shall,' the Constitution clearly and unambiguously requires that the methods 14 used for assessing taxes throughout the state must be 'uniform.'") See, also 15 Nevada Mining Association v. Erdoes, 26 P.3d 753, 759 (2001)(Sup. Ct. Nev. 16 2001)(Nevada Supreme Court is "not free to presume" Constitutional provision 17 means "anything other" than what it says). 18

The Nevada Constitution creates its own wholly independent minimum
wage requirements that exist in tandem with the requirements of NRS
608.250(1). There is no conflict between the two schemes. Nevada's minimum
wage statute, NRS 608.250(1), requires certain minimum wage payments and
provides, at NRS 608.250(2), for certain exceptions to NRS 608.250(1)'s
requirements. Nevada's Constitution requires a different, and potentially
higher,³ minimum wage payment and subjects such requirement to a different

 ³ Nevada's Constitution only assures an increased minimum wage for the
 ^a mployees it specifies who are *not* provided access to health insurance. For
 ^b employees receiving such health insurance, the minimum wage currently

group of exceptions. An employee may be covered by just the Nevada Constitution, as are Yellow Checker Star's taxi cab drivers, by both NRS 608.250(1) and the Nevada Constitution, or neither.

3

2

1

The Nevada Constitutional Minimum Wage, at subpart B, provides that 4 "All of the [minimum wage pay] provisions of this section, or any part hereof, 5 may be waived in a bona fide collective bargaining agreement [a "CBA"]...." 6 7 The Nevada minimum wage statute contains no such exemption at NRS 8 608.250(2) in respect to the minimum wage requirements of NRS 608.250(1). This means Yellow Checker Star's taxi cab drivers, if they were employed 9 under a CBA waiving the Nevada Constitution's minimum wage requirements, 10 would also be exempt from the Nevada statutory minimum wage by virtue of 11 NRS 608.250(2). Yet other Nevada workers, who may work under a CBA 12 waiving Nevada's Constitutional Minimum Wage, are still entitled to Nevada's 13 statutory minimum wage, as neither NRS 608.250(2) nor any other statute 14 provides for a waiver of Nevada's statutory minimum wage by a CBA. 15

Subpart "C" of the Nevada Constitutional Minimum Wage also creates a 16 minimum wage standard that does not completely overlap with the minimum 17 wage standards created by NRS 608.250. Such subpart expressly exempts from 18 the Nevada Constitution's minimum wage requirements certain persons under 19 18 years of age employed by non-profits and trainees. Those persons are not 20 exempted from the requirements of NRS 608.250(1) by NRS 608.250(2) and as 21 a result possess a statutory, but not Nevada Constitutional, minimum wage right. 22 The existence of dual, non-conflicting, and independent, duties imposed 23 by both a statute and a state constitution covering the same subject matter, has 24

been found proper. See, Kaysser v. McNaughton, 57 P.2d 927, 930 (Sup. Ct.

 ²⁷ required by Nevada's Constitution is the same as the federal minimum wage,
 28 such federal minimum wage also being the wage set by the Nevada Labor
 28 Commissioner for the purposes of NRS 608.250(1).

Cal. 1936) (finding that repeal of constitutional amendment did not 2 automatically repeal statute covering same subject matter as both a statute and constitution can, and do, impose independent liabilities over the same subject 3 4 matter).

The Nevada Constitution Has Implicitly Repealed the Taxi Driver Minimum Wage Exemption in NRS 608.250(2)(e) **C**.

1. An Implicit Repeal Has Occurred Because the Nevada Constitution has Revised the "Whole Subject Matter" of Minimum Wages in Nevada

9 The district court, in its order dismissing plaintiff's complaint, also found 10 that the "Minimum Wage Amendment did not repeal N.R.S. 608.250 by 11 'implication.'" AA 05. As explained *supra*, such an "implied repeal" finding is 12 unnecessary. A proper "implicit repeal" analysis of NRS 608.250(2) also results 13 in an implicit repeal having been effectuated by the Nevada Constitution. As 14 held by the Attorney General in Opinion 2005-04, voters are presumed to have 15 known the status of Nevada's existing minimum wage law when they approved 16 the Nevada Constitutional Amendment and "it is ordinarily presumed that 17 'where a statute is amended, provisions of the former statute omitted from the 18 amended statute are repealed." 2005 Nev. AG LEXIS 4, *12, citing McKay v. 19 *Board of Supervisors*, 730 P.2d 438, 442 (1986), AA 18.⁴ Attorney General 20 Opinion 2005-04 expressly holds the Nevada Constitution has implicitly 21 repealed all of the occupational exemptions contained in NRS 608.250(2). Id. 22 See, also, State ex rel. Nevada Orphan Asylum, 16 Nev. at 378 (constitutional 23 amendment that addresses subject displaces prior statute). 24 The conclusion of the Nevada Attorney General that Nevada's

25

26

1

5

6

7

⁴ The same rules are utilized to determine whether statutes or 27 constitutional amendments repeal previously enacted statutes. Nevada Mining 28 Association, 26 P.3d at 753.

Constitution has implicitly repealed the provisions of N.R.S. 608.250(2) is strongly supported by precedent from both Nevada and other jurisdictions. As stated in Eureka County Bank Habeas Corpus Cases, 126 P. 655, 676 (Nev. Sup. Ct. 1912): In the case of *Bartlet et al. v. King, Executor*, 12 Mass. 537, 7 Am. Dec. 99, the rule applicable to this case was stated as follows: A subsequent statute, revising the whole subject-matter of a former one, and evidently intended as a substitute for it, although it contains no express words to that effect, must, on the principles of law, as well as in reason and common sense, operate to repeal the former.' This court has heretofore twice quoted with approval the rule as above declared in the *Bartlet* case, and it is supported by abundant authority from other courts. *Thorpe v. Schooling*, 7 Nev. 15; *State v. Rogers*, 10 Nev. 319; *Mack v. Jastro*, 126 Cal. 130, 58 P. 372; *State Board of Health v. Ross*, 191 Ill. 87, 60 N.E. 811.) *See, also*, 26 Am. & Eng. Ency. Law, 2d ed. 731, and authorities cited in note 4." (*Union Trust Co. v. Trumbull*, 137 Ill. 146, 27 N.E. 24) 24.) In the event an "implicit repeal" of NRS 608.250(2)(e) is necessary for the Taxi Drivers to proceed on their claim under the Nevada Constitution, such a repeal has been effectuated. The Nevada Constitution indisputably acted to revise "the whole subject matter" of minimum wages in Nevada. It did so by creating minimum wage standards that were beyond the legislature's power to modify. Its provisions, not being subject to limitation by the legislature after their approval by the electorate, must also have operated as a matter of "reason and common sense" to repeal any claimed limitations on their scope set forth in Nevada's previously existing minimum wage statute.

1	CONCLUSION
2	Wherefore, for all the foregoing reasons, the Order and Judgment
3	appealed from should be reversed in its entirety.
4	Dated: November 26, 2012
5	Respectfully submitted,
6	/g/Loon Groonbong
7	<u>/s/ Leon Greenberg</u> Leon Greenberg, Esq. (Bar # 8094) A Professional Corporation 2965 S. Jones Blvd., Suite E-4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146 (702) 383-6085 Attorney for Appellant
8	2965 S. Jones Blvd., Suite E-4 Las Vegas, Nevada 89146
9	(702) 383-6085 Attorney for Appellant
10	Attorney for Appendit
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
	12