#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

Mar 01 2013 10:50 a.m.  Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court
) Sup. Ct. No. 61681
) Case No.: A-12-661726-C ) Dept. No.: XXVIII
) )
) )
) )

## RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

MARC C. GORDON, ESQ. GENERAL COUNSEL Nevada Bar No. 001866 TAMER B. BOTROS, ESQ. ASSOCIATE COUNSEL Nevada Bar No. 012183 YELLOW CHECKER STAR TRANSPORTATION CO. LEGAL DEPT. 5225 W. Post Road Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 T: 702-873-6531 F: 702-251-3460 mgordon@yestrans.com Attorneys for Respondents NEVADA YELLOW CAB CORPORATION NEVADA CHECKER CAB CORPORATION NEVADA STAR CAB CORPORATION

##

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

**ARGUMENT** 

A. Appellants' constitutional claims are not founded upon rights and obligations that are independent of those set forth in the Nevada Wage and Hour Law ("NWHL").

#### NRS 608.250 states:

Establishment by Labor Commissioner; exceptions; penalty.

- 1. Except as otherwise provided in this section, the Labor Commissioner shall, in accordance with federal law, establish by regulation the minimum wage which may be paid to employees in private employment within the State. The Labor Commissioner shall prescribe increases in the minimum wage in accordance with those prescribed by federal law, unless the Labor Commissioner determines that those increases are contrary to the public interest.
- 2. The provisions of subsection 1 do not apply to:
  - (a) Casual babysitters.
  - (b) Domestic service employees who reside in the household where they work.
  - (c) Outside salespersons whose earnings are based on commissions.
  - (d) Employees engaged in an agricultural pursuit for an employer who did not use more than 500 days of agricultural labor in any calendar quarter of the preceding calendar year.
  - (e) Taxicab and limousine drivers.
  - (f) Persons with severe disabilities whose disabilities have diminished their productive capacity in a specific job and who are specified in certificates issued by the Rehabilitation Division of the Department of Employment, Training and Rehabilitation.

In this case, prior to the addition of Section 16 to Article 15 of the Constitution in 2006, minimum wage obligations in Nevada were governed solely by the NWHL. The NWHL then provided, and still provides, that the state's labor commissioner "shall, in accordance with federal law, establish by regulation the minimum wage which may be paid to employees[,]" and "shall prescribe increases to the minimum wage in accordance with those prescribed by federal law." The NWHL further contained, and still contains, exceptions for certain categories of employees, including limousine and taxicab drivers, from the minimum wage

protection prescribed by the Labor Commissioner. These exceptions were justified as a matter of policy by the unique nature of those occupations and industries.

Article 15, Section 16 was added to the State's Constitution as the result of a ballot initiative passed by the state's citizenry in 2006. The intent behind the initiative was to provide for a minimum wage greater than what then was prescribed under the NWHL; i.e., greater than the then existing federal minimum wage. Hence, at the time of the ballot initiative, the federal minimum wage was \$5.15 per hour. The Constitutional Amendment increased the minimum wage to \$6.15 per hour for employers who did not provide health benefits to their employees, and provided for an annual automatic increase equal to the greater of an increase in the federal minimum wage or the cost of living as measured by the Consumer Price Index. <sup>2</sup>

Neither the ballot initiative nor the resulting Constitutional Amendment made any express reference to the NWHL. The intent clearly was to revise the minimum wage portions of the NWHL, not, as Appellants suggest, supplant the entire minimum wage statutory scheme and corresponding exceptions.

Consequently, all other minimum wage provisions contained in the NWHL survive the Constitutional Amendment, at least to the extent that those provisions are not in conflict and otherwise can be harmonized with the Constitutional Amendment.

Notably, the Constitutional Amendment does not speak to removing the minimum wage exceptions provided under NRS 680.250(2)(e), including the exceptions for limousine and taxicab drivers. As the federal district court (Honorable Robert Clive Jones) observed in *Lucas v. Bell Trans*, 2009 U.S. District LEXIS 72549 (D. Nev. 2009) this omission is significant because it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> On January 16, 2013, Judge Douglas Herndon of Clark County also agreed with the District Court's ruling in this case and held in *Barbara Gilmore vs. Desert Cab, Inc.*, Case No. A-12-668502-C, that the constitutional amendment did not change what NRS 608.250 stands for, concluded that this same issue was raised previously in other cases and granted Desert Cab's Motion to Dismiss on identical facts. (See, Respondents' Appendix RA001.)

weakens any argument by Appellants that the Constitutional Amendment conflicts with, and therefore voids, the continued application of the statutory exceptions provided under the NWHL. See *Lucas*, at \*20 (attached as Respondents' Appendix RA008) "...the Amendment's definition of "employee" is not necessarily in conflict with NRS 608.250. The NRS 608.250 exceptions and the Amendment's definition of "employee" can happily co-exist."

# B. Attorney General Opinions Are Not Binding Legal Authority

It is well established that the "opinions of the attorney general do not constitute binding legal authority or precedent." *Goldman v. Bryan*, 106 Nev. 30, 42 (1990) "The opinion of the state attorney general is advisory and not a binding interpretation of state law." *Nevada Highway Patrol Ass'n v. State*, F.2d 1549, 1554, n.6 (1990). See also *Tahoe Regional Planning Agency v. McKay*, 769 F.2d 534, 539 (9th Cir. 1985) *Weston v. County of Lincoln*, 98 Nev. 183 (1982) and *Cannon v. Taylor*, 88 Nev. 89 (1972)

In this case, Appellants rely on their Appendix AA14-24, Attorney General Opinion 2005-04 as the source to support their position, including the assertion that this opinion "...is well supported by precedent". Attorney General opinions are not binding legal authority and have no precedential value. Appellants' argument therefore lacks any credible, binding legal authority to support it.

# C. The Article 15, Section 16 Amendment did not "impliedly repeal" the NWHL exceptions.

Among the cases which Appellants cite as support for their position that the Article 15, Section 16 Constitutional Amendment constitutes an "implied repeal" of the statutory exception for **limousine and taxicab drivers**, is *Board of Retirement v. Superior Court*, 101 Cal.App.4th 1062 (2002). Appellants' reliance on that case is curious because the court in that case rejected the very arguments

for "implied repeal" that Appellants make in the instant case; in fact, the arguments presented in that case, as with the instant case, were made in the context of a constitutional provision that purported to override or supersede a statute upon which the real party in interest relied in its defense.

In *Board of Retirement*, a retired county employee ("retiree") was receiving a monthly disability allowance under California's public employees' retirement benefits system established and maintained by statute. The statute expressly exempted "from execution or other court process the benefits under county retirement systems established [thereunder]." *101 Cal.App.4th* at 1067. The retiree was convicted of a misdemeanor and was ordered by the trial court to pay restitution to the victim out of her monthly disability allowance. The trial court's order was issued pursuant to a "victims' bill of rights" provision in the California constitution, and to an "income garnishment" statute that was established to enforce the "victims' bill of rights" provision. The appeals court set aside the trial court's order. In doing so, it found that neither the "victims' bill of rights" constitutional provision - which had been passed by initiative by the California citizenry -- nor the "income garnishment" statute that was passed to enforce that provision "repealed by implication", the statute that exempted retirement benefits from "execution or other court process."

In this case, these very same legal principles were applied by the Nevada federal district court in *Lucas v. Bell Trans*, supra. *Lucas* is one of two (2) federal decisions in Nevada that have ruled that the passage of the Constitutional Amendment to Article 15, Section 16 did not "impliedly repeal" Nevada's statutory wage and hour exceptions for limousine and taxicab drivers contained in NRS.608.250(2)(e).

The federal district court's decision in Lucas set forth a comprehensive and well-reasoned analysis for why no such implied repeal occurred in that case. (Lucas is attached as Respondents' Appendix RA002 – 012). Judge Jones said,

"The Amendment made no reference to NRS 608.250. There is no indication that when Nevada voters went to the polls, they were informed that their vote would be repealing or amending NRS 608.250 and its multiple exceptions."

The 2006 Ballot Question No. 6 asked specifically, "Shall the Nevada Constitution be amended to raise the minimum wage paid to employees?" (See Respondent's Appendix RA013 - RA019.) In the explanation section of the ballot, it stated, "The proposed amendment, if passed, would create a new section to Article 15 of the Nevada Constitution." (See RA001). There was no mention in either the explanation or argument sections about repealing NRS 608.250. Secondly, the focus of the Constitutional Amendment was the actual minimum wage amount and was intended to supplement not supplant existing NWHL. Therefore, the only reasonable construction of the Constitutional Amendment is that it did not repeal the provisions of NRS 608.250 or its exceptions, because the NWHL expressly states that it does not apply to taxicab and limousine drivers. The Constitutional Amendment did not change any of those provisions of NRS 608.250 and hence Appellants cannot sue for a violation of the unpaid minimum wages under Nevada law.

The second decision in federal district court in Nevada that has considered and upheld the precise holding presented in this case, is *Robert A. Greene vs. Executive Coach & Carriage*, Case No. 2:09-cv-00466-RCJ-RJJ. (See Respondent's Appendix RA020 - RA031.)

# D. The Decision of District Judge Kenneth Cory in the case of Murray v. A Cab Taxi Service Was Flawed

Appellants cite to *Murray v. A Cab Taxi Service*, Case No. A-12-669926-C in the Order filed February 11, 2013 and cited in their "Notice of Supplemental Authority" which was filed in the instant case on February 21, 2013.

Unfortunately that decision did not consider one of the most important elements

when examining a Constitutional Amendment voted by the people, and that is the voter's intent when he or she read and cast the ballot. This is important because when voters went to cast their ballot in 2006 for the Amendment, they had no reason to think they were voting to repeal exceptions to the previously existing law since NRS 608.250 was not even mentioned, nor would they have any reason to consider the impact of such change when casting their ballots as outlined in *Greene*, supra. As the Court in *Greene* explained,

"One would expect that if one of the contemplated purposes of enactment was to abolish the NWHL's exceptions that the arguments would include at least a passing reference to how such a change would affect the state. In sum, a Nevada voter who had cast her ballot in favor of the Amendment based on careful consideration of these materials would likely be surprised if someone told her that she had also voted to extend the minimum wage to casual babysitters, live-in domestic workers, limousine drivers, and other previously excluded occupations." (See Page 7 of 12 of the Order, lines 15-20 attached hereto as Respondents' Appendix RA026.)

Therefore, the decision in *Murray* to not even consider a voter's intent, when he or she went to cast the ballot in 2006 in support of the Constitutional Amendment, on an issue that was and is still governed by existing law with six (6) exceptions, was flawed.

# E. There Is a Presumption against Repeal by Implication

All presumptions are against repeal by implication. "Absent an express declaration of legislative intent, we will find an implied repeal only when there is no rational basis for harmonizing the two potentially conflicting statutes, and the statutes are "irreconcilable, clearly repugnant, and so inconsistent that the two cannot have concurrent operation." *Board of Retirement v. Superior Court*, 101 Cal.App.4th at 1067-1068. The same standards apply in determining whether a Constitutional Amendment impliedly repealed a statutory provision.

"[S]o strong is the presumption against implied repeals that when a new enactment conflicts with an existing provision, [i]n order for the second law to repeal or supersede the first, the former must constitute a revision of the entire subject, so that the court may say that it was intended to be a substitute for the first." *Board of Retirement v. Superior Court*, 101 Cal.App.4th at 1067-1068.

The legal standards upon which the court relied in *Board of Retirement* are the very same standards adopted by the Nevada courts to determining when application of the "implied repeal" doctrine is appropriate. Hence, the Nevada Supreme Court has stated that the implied repeal of a statute is "heavily disfavored;" that it "will not consider a statute to be repealed by implication unless there is no other reasonable construction of the two statutes[;]" and "the fact that a statute is enacted after another statute, but is subsequently amended without mention of the first statute, may weigh against a finding of legislative intent to repeal by implication." *Washington v. State*, supra, 117 Nev. 735, 30 P.3d 1134, 1137.

In this case, the Constitutional Amendment did not either repeal or change NRS 608.250 or its exceptions. The Constitutional Amendment never mentioned NRS 608.250 or its exceptions, which by itself heavily weighs against a finding of any intent of repeal by implication. Furthermore, the Constitutional Amendment's general definition of "employee" is not in conflict with "exceptions" contained in NRS 680.250, which included taxicab and limousine drivers.

The Constitutional Amendment only increased the minimum wage to \$6.15 per hour for employers who did not provide health benefits to their employees, and provided for an annual automatic increase equal to the greater of an increase in the federal minimum wage or the cost of living as measured by the Consumer Price Index. As stated in *Greene*, "Given the presumption against implied repeal, the extrinsic evidence available is insufficient to support the conclusion that Nevada

voters intended to abolish the NWHL's exceptions by enacting Article 15, §16. Rather, the voters intended only to change the amount of the minimum wage and provide for mandatory cost-of-living increases." (See page 8 of 12 of the Order attached hereto as Respondents' Appendix RA027). It is clear, therefore, that the Constitutional Amendment did not repeal NRS 680.250 or its exceptions. Because the NWHL expressly states that it does not apply to taxicab and limousine drivers, the Appellants cannot sue for a violation of the unpaid minimum wages under Nevada law.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and authorities, the Order and Judgment

9

8

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

10

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

18 19

20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27 28